IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 71,714

)



JUL 13 1988

CLERK, SUMANE COURT Deputy Clerk

ANTONIO M. CARTER,

Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR VOLUSIA COUNTY FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES B. GIBSON PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

CHRISTOPHER S. QUARLES ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER CHIEF, CAPITAL APPEALS 112-A Orange Avenue Daytona Beach, Florida **32014** (904)252-3367

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 14, 1986, the Spring Term Grand Jury in and for Volusia County, Florida, returned a two count indictment charging that ANTONIO MICHAEL CARTER, the Appellant, committed murder in the first degree resulting in the death of Rohit Patel and Frederick G. Haberle. (R285-286)

During Carter's first appearance on May 14, 1986, Carter profanely refused the court's offer of a lawyer and announced that he intended to represent himself. (R289-286)

On June 11, the Office of the Public Defender, Seventh Judicial Circuit, filed a motion to withdraw citing an irreconcilable conflict of interest. Defense counsel requested that a special assistant public defender be appointed to represent Carter. (R287) On June 25, 1986, defense counsel filed a separate motion to appoint a special public defender pursuant to Section 27.53(3), Florida Statutes (1985). (R288) On July 14,

- 1 -

1986, defense counsel moved for a continuance pending a ruling on the motion to withdraw. (R297) Defense counsel also waived Carter's right to a speedy trial. (R297) Following hearing on the motion to withdraw, the trial court denied the motion and urged defense counsel to renew his efforts to communicate with Carter. The trial court suggested that if those efforts failed, defense counsel could refile his motion to withdraw. (R299,384-395)

On July 14, 1986, defense counsel filed a demand for disclosure. (R298)

On July 21, 1986, the state filed an answer to Carter's demand for discovery and also demanded notice **of** Carter's intention to claim an alibi. (R300)

On October 29, 1986, Carter moved for a continu nce pending receipt of a report following Carter's psychological examination. The trial court granted the motion. (R301) On June 3, 1987, the trial court heard testimony and argument on the issue of Carter's competency to stand trial. (R404-514) On June 8, 1987, the trial court rendered an order finding Carter competent to stand trial. (R302) The trial court denied Appellant's request for further observation as to this issue. (R509-510)

On August 28, 1987, the trial court rendered an order granting Carter ten days in which to file a Notice of Intent to Rely on the Defense of Insanity pursuant to Rule 3.126 of the Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure. (R304)

On November 9, 1987, the case proceeded to a jury trial before the Honorable S. James Foxman, Seventh Judicial Circuit,

- 2 -

in and for Volusia County, Florida. A jury was selected on November 9 and 10, 1987. (R516-761)

During the testimony of Dr. Botting, the trial court overruled defense counsel's objection grounded on the contention that the state was leading the witness. (R87-88) The trial court also overruled defense counsel's objection to a question propounded to Indu Patel. (R117)

Following the presentation of the state's case, defense counsel moved for a judgment of acquittal arguing that the state presented insufficient evidence that Carter was engaged in the act of robbery. Specifically, defense counsel contended that the state offered no evidence that Carter was the individual holding the gun during the confrontation, and that the state presented no evidence concerning the amount of money contained in the register at the time of the shootings. (R195-196) After hearing argument, the trial court denied the motion. (R196-199) Carter presented no evidence at the guilt phase, but did renew his motion for judgment of acquittal, which the trial court denied. (R210-211)

The trial court granted Carter's special jury instruction concerning circumstantial evidence. (R202)

Following deliberations, the jury returned with verdicts of guilty as charged of murder in the first degree, specifically premeditated murder and felony murder of Rohit Patel. The jury found Carter guilty as charged of the first-degree felony murder of Frederick G. Haberle. (R237-242,351-352) The trial court adjudicated Carter guilty of both offenses. (R242-243)

- 3 -

The trial court conducted a penalty phase in this cause on November 16, 1987. (R245) The state presented one additional witness at the penalty phase. (R251-253) The defense presented the testimony of Carter's first cousin. (R254-256)

During the charge conference at the penalty phase, defense counsel objected to the trial court's instruction that parole status supported a finding that Carter was under sentence of imprisonment at the time of the offense. (R259-260,272-273)

At the charge conference, the state revealed that it had rejected Carter's offer to plead guilty in exchange for a non-binding recommendation from the state that the trial court sentence Carter to two consecutive life terms with the applicable 25 year mandatory minimum sentence. The state rejected Carter's offer after conferring with Mrs. Patel and Mrs. Haberle.

(R262 - 264)

Following deliberation, the jury returned with a recommendation that Carter be sentenced to life imprisonment for the murder of Haberle. The jury recommended that Carter be put to death for the murder of Patel. (R273-274,356-357) The trial court followed both recommendations and sentenced Carter to life imprisonment with a 25 year mandatory minimum as to Count 11. The trial court sentenced Antonio Carter to be executed as to Count I. (R280-282,358-364) The trial court entered written findings of fact in support of the death penalty. (R358-360) The trial court found that three aggravating circumstances applied to the case. The court found that:

(1) the crime was committed by a person under sentence of imprisonment;(2) that Carter was previously convicted of another

- 4 -

capital felony and a felony involving the use or threat of violence; and (3) the crime was committed during the commission of a robbery. In mitigation, the trial court found that Antonio Carter suffered from a deprived childhood. (R358-359)

On December 23, 1987, the trial court denied Carter's motion for new trial which was filed on December 23, 1987. (R365-366) On that same date, Appellant filed a notice of appeal. (R367) Carter filed an amended notice of appeal on January 13, 1988. (R377) The Fifth District Court of Appeal rendered an order transferring this cause to this Court on January 13, 1988. (R376) This brief follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Incompetencv

In determining Carter's competency to sta 1 trial, th trial court considered the reports and testimony of four mental health experts. (R404-514,799-820) Doctors Mhatre, Davis and Barnard concluded that Antonio Carter was competent to stand trial and that he did not meet the criteria for involuntary hospitalization. Doctor Krop was of the opinion that Antonio Carter was incompetent to stand trial and concluded that he did meet the criteria for involuntary hospitalization. (R428) When asked, all of the expert witnesses (Doctor Davis was not asked) agreed that the amount of data gathered was somewhat lacking. The three doctors agreed that a short period of hospitalization would be extremely helpful in determining whether or not Antonio Carter was attempting to act mentally ill or whether he was in fact mentally ill.

Doctor Harry Krop examined Antonio Carter on two occasions. On one occasion, Carter's defense counsel was present. Krop's examination included psychological testing. (R425) Krop determined that Carter exhibited significant thought disorders manifested by extreme hostility, uncooperativeness, and irrationality. (R428) Carter's hostility, suspicion and irrationality increased when his defense attorney arrived. (R428-429) Krop concluded that Carter had a I.Q. of 73 placing him in the lowest 2} percent of the general population. (R429) Krop classified Carter as borderline mentally retarded. Krop concluded that Carter was not malingering based, in part, on his test

- 6 -

scores. (R430-431) Krop had difficulty diagnosing Carter due to his uncooperative nature and his denial of symptoms such as hallucinations and delusions. (R432-433) Krop concluded that Carter was incompetent to stand trial primarily due to his difficulty in cooperating with his defense attorney. (R463-470) Krop concluded that Carter did meet the criteria for involuntary hospitalization. (R471-472,800-803)

Doctor Barnard also had difficulty examining Carter due to his uncooperative nature. Barnard concluded that Carter was competent to stand trial and assist in his defense. (R486-491) Barnard admitted that his opinion as to Carter's ability to relate to his attorney was based upon Carter's interaction with Doctor Barnard during the examination. (R491) Doctor Barnard never observed Carter interact with his attorney. Barnard concluded that Carter suffered from a personality disorder, although Barnard remained uncertain about this opinion as it was based on insufficient information. (R492-493) Although there was a possibility Carter suffered from a mental disorder, Barnard saw no conclusive evidence of it during the examination. Barnard also concluded that Carter was retarded. (R495)

Carter did report auditory and visual hallucinations to Doctor Barnard. (R493) Carter told Barnard that he grabbed a pistol on the morning of the offense because he was "possessed." (R817) Carter admitted to being under the influence of a voice which told him what he was going to do that day. (R817) Carter told Barnard that he shot the clerk during the robbery when the man froze. (R817) "Something told me to fire the pistol.

- 7 -

Something had control of me. I ain't gonna just walk in there and fire a gun.'' (R818)

Doctor Mhatre also concluded that Carter was competent to stand trial and further opined that Carter was malingering in terms of his sanity. Mhatre admitted that he could not conclusively determine Carter's sanity due to his uncooperative behavior. (R410) Mhatre agreed that Carter was mentally retarded. (R412) Mhatre did concede that Carter's retardation probably would affect his capacity to challenge state witnesses. (R415) Doctor Mhatre agreed with Doctor Barnard that the best way to rule out Carter's malingering would be through a relatively short period of hospitalization. (R418-419)

Doctor Davis concluded that Carter suffered from a personality disorder of the soci pathic type. Davis onclud d that Carter was competent to stand trial and did not meet the criteria for involuntary hospitalization. (R474-480,485) Davis concluded that Carter was simply refusing to cooperate with the examination for his own reasons. Davis did not believe that Carter was malingering, but rather thought that Carter simply chose to obstruct the state's attempts to bring him to trial. (R480-485)

After hearing testimony and argument on the issue and after considering the psychiatric reports, the trial court found Antonio Carter competent to stand trial. (R510) The trial court denied defense counsel's request to hospitalize Carter in order to obtain sufficient data to conclusively determine whether Carter was mentally ill or was simply malingering. (R508-510)

- 8 -



Guilt Phase

On April 15, 1986, Peter Hadburg, a route salesman for Central Florida Distributing Company stopped at Nil's Grocery on Madison Avenue in Daytona Beach, Florida. Hadburg finished conducting business with Roy Patel, the manager of the grocery store. Hadburg headed back to his beer truck and encountered Fred Haberle in front of the store. Hadburg knew Haberle, a wine salesman, since they frequently covered the same territory in plying their respective trades. Hadburg and Haberle engaged in brief conversation outside the store. The pair usually shared a social soft drink at the store every Tuesday, but on this particular date, Hadburg was running ahead of schedule and wanted to finish his route early. The two discussed meeting later at a different locale. (R109-113) As they talked, a black male walked between them and, in the process, gave the pair "a real bitter glare and stared us down and looked at us weird, strange." (R112) Hadburg was unable to identify the black male or to give a more detailed description. (R112) Hadberg got into his beer truck and pulled out of the store's parking lot as Haberle walked into the store. As Hadburg drove up the street he heard what sounded like three or four shots being fired. (R113)

Leland Perry, a trash collector for the City of Daytona Beach, parked at Nil's Grocery about noon. Perry and his driver stopped at the store every day to get a soda to drink with lunch. (R122,127-128) Perry noticed the regular wine salesman entering the store as they parked. (R122-124) Perry got out of the garbage truck and heard what sounded like a shot. (R123) He

- 9 -

looked underneath the truck thinking that they might have rolled over a bottle, but saw nothing. (R123) When Perry got to the front door of the store, he saw the wine salesman lying on the floor. (R123) Perry looked at the man and wondered why he fell. (R124) Perry then raised his head and looked into the store where, approximately five feet from him, he saw a man with a blue steel revolver in his right hand. At trial, Perry identified Antonio Carter, the Appellant, as that man. (R124-125) The assailant ordered Perry to, "Back up Pop," Perry stared into the barrel of the gun as he complied. (R124-126) Once outside Perry got into the garbage truck and told the driver, "Let's go!" (R126) As they drove away, Perry noticed a police car driving toward the grocery store. (R126) Police tracked Perry down two days later and showed him a photographic line-up. (R133-135) He selected Carter's photograph as being the man who ordered him out of the store two days earlier. (R126-127,135-138,322-323)

Indu Patel, Rohit "Roy" Patel's wife, was upstairs in the kitchen above the store. About noon, she heard a loud noise downstairs. She looked out of the window overlooking the road in front of the store but saw nothing amiss. (R114-116) The noise continued so she went downstairs to investigate. (R116) Through a screen door she saw a man pointing a gun at her husband. They both stood behind the store's counter. Patel saw her husband open the register where she had placed approximately \$80 the previous night. (R116-118) She returned upstairs and proceeded to call the police. (R117) At the trial, Indu Patel was unable to identify her husband's assailant. (R119-120)

- 10 -

Daytona Beach Policeman Michael G. Lester was the first officer to enter the store following the crime. Lester arrived shortly after 11:00 a.m. (R17) Someone in the crowd outside the store shouted to Lester, "They're inside!'' (R17) Lester entered the store cautiously but observed no movement inside. (R17-18) He found a white male lying on his left side directly in front of the store's counter. (R18) Lester noticed a gunshot wound to the right cheek of the victim. (R18) Lester checked but detected no vital signs. (R18) Lester later found Patel's body lying face up across a stool behind the counter. (R18) Lester determined that Patel was also dead. (R19) The open cash drawer in the register contained only change and food stamps. (R38)

An autopsy revealed that the cause of death for Haberle was a solitary gunshot wound to the head. (R58-62) Haberle also sustained a gunshot wound to the left side of his abdomen. (R62-63) Roy Patel died as a result of multiple gunshot wounds to the chest and head. (R78-83) The medical examiner estimated the survival time of both men to be extremely short after the infliction of the wounds. The doctor opined that their time of consciousness may have been even shorter than the time of survival. (R71-72,88-89,96-97,100-106)

Subsequent investigation revealed a spent projectile in a cardboard box found in a shopping cart parked in the first aisle of the store. The cart was located at the other end of the store away from the counter and the bodies. (R160-161)

Officer Steven R. Thomas of the Daytona Beach Police participated in the investigation on April 15, 1986. (R142)

- 11 -

Thomas found a firearm that appeared to have been thrown behind a spanish bayonet bush growing directly along the wall of the Pinehaven Project Apartments. Thomas found the gun next to the row of apartments containing units 951 through 956. (R142-143) The spot where Thomas found the gun was approximately three to five blocks (one-half to a mile) from Nil's grocery store. Thomas secured the Colt .38 revolver, serial number A52590. (R145-146)

On April 17, 1986, Jenny Ahern, a crime analyst at the Orlando Regional Crime lab, examined the gun for latent fingerprints. (R168-171) Using a superglue method, Ahern eventually found a single latent fingerprint on the cylinder of the gun. This print matched the print of Carter's left middle finger. (R172-177) Ahern was unable to determine how long the print had been present on the gun. (R177)

Charles Myers, a forensic ballistics expert, also examined the gun found in the bush. (R180-183) The revolver contained three live rounds and three fired cartridge cases. (R187) Myers also examined five projectiles recovered from the bodies of Patel and Haberle during the autopsies. (R184-185) Myers compared these bullets with ones that he test-fired from the Colt .38. All five of the projectiles displayed rifling characteristics similar to those found in bullets fired by the Colt .38 found in the bush. (R189) Three of the bullets displayed insufficient individual characteristics to determine if they had been fired from that particular weapon. (R189) Myers

- 12 -

opined that the other two bullets had been fired from the gun found by Officer Thomas. (R189)

Penalty Phase

At the penalty phase, the state presented only one witness, Ed Seltzer, a parole and probation officer with the Florida Department of Corrections. (R251-253) Seltzer testified that, on the day of the offense, Carter was on parole for robbery and use of a firearm in the commission of a robbery. (R251-253,326-327)

Carter presented the testimony of Deborah Cox, his first cousin. Deborah and Antonio grew up together. As a result of Carter's mother's placements in various mental institutions, Antonio bounced around from one family member to the next during his childhood. Antonio resided in various foster homes as well as detention centers between stints with the occasional willing relative. Deborah's mother was a sister of Carter's mother and therefore kept him frequently. Even when Antonio did not live with Deborah, they saw each other anyway. (R254)

Antonio Carter grew up without the benefit of even a reasonable amount of nurturing and affection from his parents. (R254-255) He lived in at least two different foster homes during his childhood. He was removed from one in Deland after approximately one year due to some unspoken problems. (R255)

Antonio Carter was a good-hearted youngster. (R256) It was after he was paroled that Deborah Cox noticed a change in Antonio. (R256) Cox testified that Antonio had an excellent

- 13 -

relationship with her own children. He played with them and had a close bond with them. (R256) Cox testified that Antonio Carter's life was worth saving. She opined that he had led a hard life. She also opined that Antonio was not in his right mind at the time of the offense. (R256)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

<u>POINT I:</u> Appellant contends that the trial court allowed the state to try Antonio Carter without a sufficient inquiry into Carter's competence to stand trial. Although three psychiatrists felt that Carter was competent, one psychologist opined that he was incompetent. The psychologist's examination was the only one to include observation of Carter interacting with his attorney. The psychiatrists who concluded that Carter was competent had insufficient data to reach that conclusion. At the very least, the trial court should have granted Appellant's request that Carter be hospitalized in order to rule out the psychiatrists' belief that Carter was malingering.

<u>POINT 11</u>: The trial court completely ignored substantial and competent evidence that Carter suffered from a mental defect at the time of the offense. In addition to testimony presented at the penalty phase that Carter was not in his "right mind" at the time of the offense, the trial court completely ignored the evidence and testimony presented at the competency hearing. All of the mental health professionals agreed that Carter suffered at the very least from a personality disorder. Most agreed that he was retarded. In ignoring this evidence, the trial court failed to follow the standards set forth by this Court in <u>Rogers v.</u> State, 511 So.2d 526 (Fla. 1987).

<u>POINT 111:</u> In light of the testimony presented at the guilt phase that Carter acted strangely at the scene of the crime and

- 15 -

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