#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ANTONIO M. CARTER,

Appellant,

V.

CASE NO. 71,714

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

FILE D

OCT 3 1988

DLERK, SOURT COURT

By Deputy Clerk

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR VOLUSIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

PAULA C. COFFMAN ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL 125 N. Ridgewood Avenue Fourth Floor Daytona Beach, FL 32014 (904) 252-1067

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

##

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

## POINT FIVE

FLORIDA'S DEATH PENALTY HAS NOT BEEN UNCONSTITUTIONALLY APPLIED TO THIS APPELLANT AS A RESULT OF THE STATE'S REJECTION OF APPELLANT'S PLEA OFFER: MOREOVER, APPELLANT HAS FAILED TO PROPERLY PRESERVE THE INSTANT CLAIM OF ERROR FOR APPELLATE REVIEW.

Appellant commences his argument concerning the instant claim of error with the following representation:

Appellant submits on appeal that his death sentence constitutes cruel and unusual punishment under the Eighth Amendment to the United Constitution. This conclusion necessarily results when considers that the prosecutor's decision to seek the sanction prosecuting in Antonio Carter was based, in large part, on the inappropriate consideration of the feelings of and sympathy for the surviving members of the victims' families.

See, Initial Brief of Appellant, page 46. In the first instance, it should be noted that appellant concedes the absence of proper preservation of the instant claim of error in the trial court. the time the circumstances of the rejected plea offer initiated by the appellant were made a matter of record, contention that appellant's federal constitutional rights had been violated was forthcoming (R 262-64). For the first time on Florida's ultimate criminal appeal, appellant that argues sanction is unconstitutional as applied to him. а consequence, this Court should decline to entertain a claim of error which was neither advanced in, nor considered by, the trial court. Grossman v. State, 525 So.2d 833, 842 (Fla. 1988): Eutzy <u>v. State</u>, 458 So.2d 755, 757 (Fla. 1984): <u>Trushin v. State</u>, 425 So.2d 1126, 1129-30 (Fla. 1982).

Furthermore, even if appellant can succeed in clearing the aforementioned procedural impediment to appellate review, an equally formidable obstacle to relief is mischaracterization of and idle speculation regarding the surrounding the instant claim circumstances Appellant's first misapprehension involves his assertion that the prosecutor's decision to seek the death penalty ''was based, in large part, upon the inappropriate consideration of the feelings of and sympathy for the surviving members of the victim's families." See, Initial Brief of Appellant, page 46. actuality, the prosecutor's decision to seek the death penalty was undoubtedly predicted upon the knowledge, common to both counsel by the conclusion of the discovery process, that at least three statutory aggravating circumstances were likely to be found applicable to the appellant's crimes. It should be noted that two of the three aggravating circumstances subsequently relied upon by the trial judge to support the imposition of the death penalty  $^{5}$  are not easily subject to refutation by a defendant (R A defendant's prior record (parole status conviction of prior violent or prior capital crimes) usually speaks for itself, leaving little room for interpretation by the finder of fact. Hence, appellee would assert that all parties

<sup>6</sup>§921.141(5)(a) and §921.141(5)(b), Florida Statutes (1985).

recognized appellant's strong eligibility for the electic chair $^{7}$ .

Moreover, appellant's idle speculation that "[i]f neither Patel nor Haberle had any family members, the prosecutor probably would have accepted Carter's offer to plead to a minimum fifty year term' is entitled to no deference by this Court. <u>See</u>, Initial Brief of Appellant, page 47. This record affirmatively establishes that the prosecutor never had any intention of seeking any penalty for appellant's crimes short of death (R 263). The mere fact that appellant chose to initiate an offer which was subsequently deemed unacceptable to the state should in no way be permitted to denigrate the prosecutor's original lawful intention:

Under Florida's constitution, the decision to charge and prosecute is an executive responsibility, and the state attorney has complete discretion in deciding whether and how to prosecute. Art 11, §3, Fla. Const.; Cleveland v. State, 417 So.2d 653 (Fla. 1982); State v. Cain, 381 So.2d 1361 (Fla. 1980); Johnson v. State, 314 So.2d 573 (Fla. 1975).

State v. Bloom, 497 So.2d 2, 3 (Fla. 1986).

In addition, this Court has expressly held that, although victim impact has a place in the criminal justice system, such a consideration must simply not be utilized as an aggravating factor in the sentencing process. Grossman v. State, 525 So.2d

<sup>&#</sup>x27;This conclusion is supported by the terms of the plea offer itself (two guilty pleas in exchange for two consecutive life sentences with the application of a mandatory life term), since the only benefit to be realized from such a bargain would be avoidance of the death penalty (R 262-263).

at 842. As previously noted, there is no record evidence to support appellant's contention that the sentiments of the surviving relatives of appellant's victims played any role whatsoever in appellant's antecedent eligibility for or ultimate receipt of the death penalty (R 358-360). This Court is not permitted to predicate reversible error upon appellant's untimely conjecture concerning what effect circumstances not applicable to the instant case might have had upon the prosecutor's ultimate decision not to waver from his original prosecutional intent.

See, Sullivan v. State, 303 So.2d 632 (Fla. 1974), cert. denied, 428 U.S. 911, 96 S.Ct. 3226, reh. denied, 429 U.S. 873, 97 S.Ct. 190 (1976).

Finally, even if this Court were to glean the possibility of error from this unpreserved claim, <a href="Grossman">Grossman</a>, <a href="Supra">supra</a>, permits the application of harmless error analysis, on a case-by-case basis, to allegations of error predicated upon <a href="Booth v. Maryland">Booth v. Maryland</a>, <a href="U.S.">U.S.</a>, <a href="107">107</a> S.Ct. 2529, 96 L.Ed.2d 440 (1987). <a href="Grossman v.">Grossman v.</a></a>
<a href="State">State</a>, 525</a> So.2d at 845. As in <a href="Grossman">Grossman</a>, only appellant's judge, as opposed to appellant's jury, was apprised of the offending information. <a href="Moreover">Moreover</a>, even without exposure to the subject facts, appellant's jury was persuaded by a majority of eleven to one that death was the appropriate penalty (R 356). Based upon the foregoing arguments, even if appellant were not procedurally barred from raising the instant claim of error for the first time on appeal, any alleged error should be deemed harmless by this court and appellant's sentence of death affirmed.

# POINT SIX

TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR THE OVERRULING APPELLANT'S OBJECTION TO STANDARD PENALTY PHASE INSTRUCTION ONCERTAIN STATUTORY AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCES; MOREOVER, APPELLANT FAILED TO PROPERLY PRESERVE A PORTION OF THIS ISSUE FOR APPELLATE REVIEW.

As conceded by appellant, his current objection to the standard jury instruction concerning section 921.141(5)(b), Florida Statutes (1985), was not properly preserved in the trial court by appropriate objection prior to jury deliberation (R 260). See, Initial Brief of Appellant, page 52. As a consequence, this portion of the instant claim of error should not be entertained by this Court. Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.390(d); Jackson v. State, 522 So.2d 802, 809 (Fla. 1988): Middleton v. State, 465 So.2d 1218, 1226 (Fla. 1985).

Although appellant's position concerning the unconstitutionality of section 921.141(5)(a), Florida Statutes (1985), was timely presented to the trial court (R 259, 272-73), appellee maintains that this Court's decision in Johnson v. State, 442 So.2d 193 (Fla.), cert. denied, 466 U.S. 963, 104 S.Ct. 2181, 80 L.Ed.2d 563 (1983), addressing the propriety of standard jury instructions pertaining to section 921.141(5)(b), is dispositive with respect to both of appellant's challenges.

In <u>Johnson</u>, this Court expressly recognized the propriety of standard jury instructions which accurately state the law applicable to a specific statutory aggravating circumstance:

The defendant had previously been convicted of felonies involving the use or threat of violence.

arques that the trial Appellant court erred in instructing the jury that the felonies of which Johnson convicted, been attempted robbery and attempted murder, were matter o£ law felonies threat involving the use or violence. Appellant further contends that the trial court's reliance on this factor erroneous in the absence of evidence used violence actual threatened by appellant. robbery and murder involve violence per se; any attempt to commit these crimes must inherently involve the threat of violence. We find no merit here.

Johnson v. State, 442 So.2d at 197 (emphasis supplied). Such reasoning is equally applicable to the standard penalty phase instruction accurately informing the jury that, as a matter of law, if they should find a given defendant was on parole from prison at the time the subject offense was committed, the defendant was "under sentence of imprisonment" for purposes of the application of section 921.141(5)(a), Florida Statutes (1985). See, Straight v. State, 397 So.2d 903, cert. denied, 454 U.S. 1022, 102 S.Ct. 556, 70 L.Ed.2d 418 (1981).

Without this essential guidance, a jury recommendation of death could be subject to the justifiable speculation that statutory aggravating circumstances erroneously found to be applicable contributed to an unreliable advisory sentence. Just as one example, a jury apprised that a defendant was on probation for the offense of armed robbery at the time of the commission of his capital crime could, without proper instructions concerning the applicable law to be applied to the facts, improperly find the existence of two statutory aggravating circumstances, as opposed to one. See, Ferguson v. State, 417 So.2d 639, 646

(1982) (probation does not constitute ''sentence of imprisonment" for purpose of application of section 921.141(5)(a), Florida Statutes): Antone v. State, 382 So.2d 1205, cert. denied, 449 U.S. 913, 101 S.Ct. 287, 66 L.Ed.2d 141 (1980) (the offense of armed robbery constitutes "a felony involving the use or threat of violence to the person" for purpose of application of section 921.141(5)(b), Florida Statutes).

As this Court has recently reiterated, the standard penalty phase jury instructions accurately inform a capital defendant's jury of the applicable law. Jackson v. State, 502 So.2d 409, 411 (Fla. 1986). As pointed out in Combs v. State, 525 So.2d 853, 857-58 (Fla. 1988), in the context of an unrelated challenge to the constitutionality of standard penalty phase instructions, this appellant's entitlement to any relief with respect to the instant claim of error would necessitate the resentencing of virtually every capital defendant sentenced to death in this state since 1981 when the subject instructions were approved by this Court in In re Standard Jury Instructions in Criminal Cases, 431 So.2d 594 (Fla.), modified, 431 So.2d 599 (Fla. 1981). Finally, this Court should decline appellant's invitation to reverse itself on such a previously-rejected and, in this case, partially-unpreserved claim of error, particularly in view of the that the application of sections 921.141(5)(a) fact 921.141(5)(b), Florida Statutes (1985), to appellant's crimes by the ultimate sentencer (See, Point Eight, infra) is not presently contested herein. No reversible error having been demonstrated, appellant's sentence of death must be affirmed.

## POINT SEVEN

APPELLANT'S VOLUNTARY ABSENCE FROM A NON-CRUCIAL STAGE OF APPELLANT'S TRIAL FOLLOWING A WAIVER OF PRESENCE BY COUNSEL, WHICH WAIVER WAS IN APPELLANT'S PRESENCE, DOES NOT CONSTITUTE FUNDAMENTAL ERROR.

As indicated by appellant, during jury selection individual voir dire was conducted. Appellant was present with counsel during these proceedings. Peremptory challenges were then exercised in chambers. At the conclusion of the proceedings on November 9, 1987, the state subjected venireman Locke to a peremptory challenge, following which the trial judge indicated its intention to excuse Locke and send the remaining venire home to return the following morning for the completion of jury selection (R 664).

Upon suggestion of the trial judge that reinstruction would appropriate, defense counsel formally requested be reinstruction (R 664). However, upon questioning, neither counsel for appellant nor counsel for the state wished to be present, although defense counsel requested that the reinstruction be made a matter of record (R 664-665). Then the following transpired:

THE COURT: Well, if I do it on the record, does the Defense have to be present?

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: No, sir.

THE COURT: Do you waive your presence and the defendant's presence?

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: Yes.

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: Could I talk to my client privately?

THE COURT: Sure. You can stay.

(R 665). Thereafter, the trial judge returned to the courtroom, excused venireman Locke and repeated admonitions regarding media coverage of the case, further instructing the balance of the venire to return the following morning (R 665-66).

the first time appeal, appellant predicates For on fundamental error upon his voluntary absence from a non-crucial stage of trial following a waiver of his presence by counsel which waiver occurred in appellant's presence. Such a scenario is not unlike that presented in Ferry v. State, 507 So.2d 1373 (Fla. 1987). In Ferry, this Court concluded that the defendant's voluntary absence during the actual challenging of prospective jurors did not mandate reversal in view of a valid waiver of the defendant's presence and acquiescence by the defendant inferred from the defendant's silence while present during counsel's waiver:

> The trial court's inquiring of defense counsel concerning Ferry leaving the courtroom took place in Ferry's presence and Ferry had the opportunity prior to leaving the courtroom to give counsel his input on the exercise of challenges. Under the totality of these circumstances, we find that Ferry voluntarily absented himself and his validly counsel waived A contrary holding on presence. these facts would promote deliberate sandbagging. We will not allow a defendant who voluntarily absents himself, juror who knows that challenges will take place in his absence and whose attorneys waive his presence, and cooperates without

objection during the exercise of challenges to claim reversible error on appeal. See United States v. Willis, 759 F.2d 1486 (11th Cir.), cert. denied, u.s. , 106 S.Ct. 144, 88 L.Ed.2d 119 (1985).

<u>Ferry v. State</u>, 507 So.2d at 1375. The facts of the instant case compel the same conclusion.

In the first instance, appellee would argue that appellant's presence was not even required under Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.180 during a perfunctory admonition to prospective jurors administered by the trial judge at the appellant's behest following the completion of examination and challenges for the See, Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.180(a)(4). Indeed, the subject "an ancillary more appropriately characterized as proceeding that touched on voir dire, but was not voir dire." **522**, Lambrix v. State, 13 F.L.W. 472 (Fla. August 18, 1988). Moreover, it cannot be said that the subject proceeding falls ambit of Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure within the 3.180(a)(5) given the fact that appellant's jury had not yet been selected nor sworn. See, Initial Brief of Appellant, page 56. it would illogical Furthermore, appear to suggest "fundamental fairness might be thwarted" as appellant's absence from a purely precautionary (and repetitious) procedure administered solely for the appellant's benefit. See, Herzog v. State, 439 So.2d 1372, 1375 (Fla. 1983), quoting Francis v. State, 413 So.2d 1175, 1177 (Fla. 1982).

In any event, as conceded by appellant, a capital defendant may waive his presence during even a crucial stage of his

trial. <u>Peede v. State</u>, **474** So.2d **808** (Fla. **1985).** Moreover, in two recent cases, this Court has subjected the involuntary absence of a defendant from various aspects of the voir dire process to harmless error analysis and found no prejudice to be present. <u>See</u>, <u>Turner v. State</u>, **13** F.L.W. **426**, **427** (Fla. July **7**, **1988**) (defendant's involuntary absence from in-chambers voir dire conference harmless): <u>Harvey v. State</u>, **13** F.L.W. **398**, **399** (Fla. June **16**, **1988**) (defendant's absence from voir dire when prospective juror excused for cause harmless).

Nowhere in his brief does appellant assert that he was actually prejudiced by the trial judge's instructions made to prospective jurors in his absence. One can only speculate in precisely what manner appellant would have participated, even on a "limited basis", in the momentary monologue upon which fundamental error is presently predicated. <u>See</u>, Initial Brief of Appellant, page 56. "A party may not invite error and then be heard to complain of that error on appeal." <u>Pope v. State</u>, 441 So.2d 1073, 1076 (Fla. 1983). For the above-mentioned reasons, appellant's convictions must be affirmed.

## POINT EIGHT

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